
Friends Meeting House, Balby (Doncaster) 

Oxford Place, off St James Street, Doncaster, DN1 3RH 

National Grid Reference: SE 57363 02583 

  

  

Statement of Significance 

Balby Meeting House represents the latest in a series of meeting houses that 
have served Quakers in the Doncaster area since the early eighteenth century. 
It was built in the 1970s, and refurbished and extended in 2009; it has low 
significance for its heritage value.  

Evidential value.  
As a relatively modern building, the building has low significance for 
evidential and archaeological values. The re-set grave stones in the garden 
have some evidential value, related to burial grounds in Warmsworth and on 
West Laith Gate, both since closed. 
 
Historical value  
The building is associated with the long history of Quakers in Balby and 
Doncaster, but the current meeting house and site has low historical 
significance. 
 
Aesthetic value 
The building has medium significance for its architectural value, as a typical 
example of 1970s design, remodelled to form an attractive, but plain meeting 
house in 2009. 
 
 
 



Communal value 
The meeting house has high communal value, as a place for Quaker meetings 
and it plays an important role in the neighbourhood, providing space for 
activities that support the community, particularly disadvantaged people, 
asylum-seekers and refugees. 
 

Part 1: Core data 

1.1 Area Meeting: Sheffield & Balby 

1.2 Property Registration Number: 0020560 

1.3 Owner: Area Meeting 

1.4 Local Planning Authority: Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council 

1.5 Historic England locality: Yorkshire  

1.6 Civil parish: Doncaster 

1.7 Listed status: Not listed 

1.8 NHLE: Not applicable 

1.9 Conservation Area: No 

1.10 Scheduled Ancient Monument: No 

1.11 Heritage at Risk: No 

1.12 Date(s):  1975; 2009 

1.13 Architect(s): John Wallis & Associates; Place Architects Lincoln 

1.14 Date of visit:  1 August 2016 

1.15 Name of report author: Marion Barter 

1.16 Name of contact(s) made on site: Jill Cooper 

1.17 Associated buildings and sites:  Attached bungalow - 19 Oxford Place 

1.18 Attached burial ground: No 

1.19 Information sources:  

David Butler, Quaker Meeting Houses in Britain, 1999, Volume 2, p794-5 

Richard Hoare, Doncaster Quakers’ 350th Anniversary: some historical notes, September 
2002 

www.doncasterquakers.org.uk 

Part 2: The Meeting House & Burial Ground: history, contents, use, setting and 
designation 

2.1. Historical background  

Balby has a long history of Quakerism and there were Seeker groups at Balby, Tickhill and 
Warmsworth when George Fox visited South Yorkshire in 1651.  After trying to speak to the 



priest in the church at Tickhill in 1651 Fox was assaulted and at Doncaster he was again 
assaulted and banned from the town by Magistrates.  Fox returned in 1652 and spoke in the 
open air, under a walnut tree in John Kilham’s Orchard, Balby.  Prominent early Quakers 
included Richard Farnworth of Tickhill, the Kilhams in Balby and Thomas and Mary Aldam 
of Warmsworth; their son Thomas built the first meeting house with a burial ground at 
Warmsworth in 1706, now a private house. Before this, Friends probably met in Thomas 
Aldam’s house. As Quaker membership grew in the later eighteenth century, meetings began 
to be held in John Clark’s house in French Gate, Doncaster, as Warmsworth was too far for 
some Friends to walk. In 1800, it was decided to move the meeting from Warmsworth to 
Doncaster and a plot with a barn on West Laith Gate was acquired. The barn was adapted for 
a meeting house with a caretaker’s cottage, and a burial ground was laid out behind the 
building.  In 1897 the building was altered to create more space for an Adult School.  The 
meeting house and burial ground were acquired by the Council under a CPO and vacated by 
Quakers in the 1970s. The burials were reinterred at Rose Hill cemetery and the headstones 
moved to the new site. The building was demolished and the site redeveloped for Trafford 
Court.  

 

Fig.1: The meeting house on West Laith Gate before demolition in the 1970s (Balby meeting) 

 



Fig.2: Plan dated 1887 of the meeting house and burial ground at West Laith Gate, Doncaster 
(Balby meeting) 

As part of the CPO agreement with Doncaster Council, the meeting was given a new meeting 
house within a council estate in Balby Bridge; the new building was built by the Council, 
designed by John Wallis & Associates and was opened by the Mayor on 10 May 1975.  The 
building included a large meeting room, children’s rooms and had an attached single-storey 
house that could be used by a warden.   The meeting house was extended and upgraded in 
2009, by Place Architects.  

The history of the meeting includes a significant letter written by Elders of Balby in 1656; 
wording from this is contained within the introduction to Faith and Practice, including the 
words ‘these things we do not lay upon you as a rule or form to walk by, but that all, with the 
measure of light which is pure and holy, may be guided….’.   Notable Quakers in Doncaster 
business and civic life include Benjamin Huntsman, clockmaker and inventor of crucible 
steel, and Richard Clark who was Mayor of Doncaster, revived the grammar school and 
campaigned for the town’s water supply in the 1860s.   

2.2. The building and its principal fittings and fixtures 

The meeting house built in 1975, and designed by John Wallis & Associates was roughly 
cruciform-plan with the chamfered square plan of the meeting house forming the taller 
northern arm, the bungalow to the west, children’s rooms to the south and ancillary areas 
and entrance in an east wing. The 1970s building is cavity walled and faced in brown brick 
laid in stretcher bond, on a blue brick plinth. The flat roofs are covered with a membrane 
material, with slate to the meeting room hipped roof, and windows and doors are timber 
with double-glazing.  The east wing has pale rendered walls, flat roofs and vertical windows, 
associated with the remodelling in 2009 by Place Architects; the main entrance with glazed 
doors is now on the north side of this wing, between the meeting room and the office. The 
square meeting room is expressed by its larger scale and hipped roof; the external walls are 
divided into five recessed panels with high level windows to alternate panels facing east and 
north and full-height windows (or doors) to the chamfered corners. The low single-storey 
adjoining dwelling has plain door and window openings, with an integral garage to the west 
end. The meeting rooms facing south have roller shutters to the full-height windows for 
security, with clerestory lights above, in panels with horizontal boarding. 

The interior was refurbished in 2009; the entrance lobby is now from the north, leading into 
a top-lit inner foyer with a corridor to the east serving the toilets and cleaner’s store. At the 
west end of the inner lobby is a large store for community groups. The pair of rooms on the 
south side overlook the garden and can be separated by a moveable screen.  All the rooms are 
bright and spacious with plastered walls and ceilings, painted white, floors are covered with 
vinyl or carpet.  

2.3. Loose furnishings  

The meeting owns a chair made of walnut wood (Fig.3). The walnut chair was made around 
1931 by Quaker John Hirst, its style partly Jacobean, from two ancient trees under which Fox 
was traditionally thought to have preached. The modern design on the back shows the trees 
in an orchard, with a globe signifying his universal message. 

Loose chairs for the refurbished meeting house were purchased from Winscombe Furniture 
in 2009. 

 



 

Fig.3: walnut chair made in c.1931, commemorating George Fox’s last visit to Balby in 1669  

2.4. Attached burial ground  

N/A 

2.5. The meeting house in its wider setting  

 

Fig.4: path laid with re-set grave stones in the garden 

The meeting house is located in the centre of a housing estate in Balby Bridge, on the south-
west edge of Doncaster town centre. The estate contains three point blocks and a mix of 
deck-access maisonettes and 2-storey housing built in the 1970s. Several other faith groups 
have premises nearby including the Salvation Army, the Methodists, an evangelical church 
and a mosque. Most of the residents rely on benefits and the meeting provides an important 
community resource in this deprived area.  The meeting house has an open landscaped 
frontage with lawns and a group of birch trees which partly screen the attached dwelling 
(tenanted). Behind the meeting house is a small enclosed garden, with flowers and 
vegetables; the path is laid with grave stones West Laith Gate burial ground, including some 
to members of the Clark family. The Quakers have plots H25- H35 in a section of Rose Hill 
Cemetery (Doncaster Council), and burials from West Laith Gate were reinterred in 



unmarked graves in August 1975 (plots H171-177 and H211-215).  The cemetery is centred at 
NGR SE610 025. 

2.6. Listed status  

The meeting house is not listed and as a plain, altered 1970s building is unlikely to meet the 
listing criteria.  

2.7. Archaeological potential of the site 

South Yorkshire SMR was consulted and they hold no records for this site. The 
archaeological potential of the site is likely to be low.  

 


